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\)W IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
v FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

-

Y +

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE Civil Action No.
COMMISSION, L

Plaintiff, ] {ﬁ?'gf
AR,
VS. i

FIDELITY PETROLEUM CORP. and AUG 2 | 2002 J

ROBERT R. McCLANAHAN,

CLERK, U.S. DISTRICT COURT
Defendants. By

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") alleges as

Deputy

follows:

JURISDICTION

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections
20(d)(1) and 22(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§
77t(d)(1) & 77v(a), Sections 21(d)(3)(A), 21(e) and 27 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(3)(A), 78u(e) & 78aa.

2. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to Section 22 of the Securities
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77v, and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa,
because certain of the transactions, acts, practices and courses of conduct
constituting violations of the laws alleged herein occurred within the Northern
District of Texas and because certain of the defendants reside therein.

SUMMARY

3. This case involves the fraudulent offer and sale to nearly 300 investors
of over $4 million in securities, specifically interests in oil and gas wells, by
Fidelity Petroleum Corporation ("Fidelity" or the "Company") and its president and
founder, Robert R. McClanahan ("McClanahan"). From January 2000 through
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August 2001, the defendants offered and sold interests in several oil and gas wells
operated by Fidelity to the general public through cold call telemarketing. Using
information supplied by McClanahan, Fidelity's sales representatives told investors
in these calls that they would recoup their initial investment within the first five to
fifteen months. Furthermore, the defendants falsely represented that an investment
in Fidelity wells would yield a yearly return of between 65% and 113% of the
original investment. The defendants had no reasonable basis for these projections
at the time they made them. Furthermore, contrary to the defendants'
representations, the yield from an investment in Fidelity's commercially productive
wells never exceeded 20% and was, on some wells, below six percent. In addition,
Fidelity's written offering materials contained additional misrepresentations,
including among other things that investor funds for each well would be
segregated.

4. Fidelity, by engaging in the above conduct, violated Sections 5(a),
5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§
77e(a), 77e(c) and 77qg(a) and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R.
§ 240.10b-5.

5. McClanahan, by engaging in the above conduct, violated Sections
5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c) and 77q(a)
and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5
thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

THE DEFENDANTS

6. Robert R. McClanahan, age 65, resides in McKinney, Texas.
McClanahan founded Fidelity in November 1994, and served as its President until
it ceased operations in August 2001. McClanahan controlled Fidelity. He

assembled the well offering documents and directed the sales efforts.

Complaint
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7. Fidelity Petroleum Corporation was incorporated in Texas on May 22,
1995. Its offices were located in Plano, Texas. Fidelity was in the business of
acquiring, developing, and producing oil and natural gas wells. In August 2001,
Fidelity ceased operations. Fidelity has never filed a registration statement with the

Commission with respect to any of the offers and/or sales of its securities.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
A.  The Offerings
8. Beginning in 1995, Fidelity offered for sale interests in several oil and

gas wells it owned and operated throughout Texas. According to the offering
documents, Fidelity offered investors the opportunity to purchase units, or fractions
thereof, in the wells. Each unit represented a working interest in the well. During
this period, Fidelity sold interests in seven wells: the Texas Belles #1, 2 and 3 and
the Phoenix #1, 2, 3 and 4. Often, the Company would offer interests in more than
one well simultaneously.

9. Interested investors were sent offering documents for each well,
except for the Phoenix #2 and #3, which were offered to Phoenix #1 investors
without offering documents. McClanahan assembled the offering documents for
each of the wells. The offering documents began with a ten to fifteen page
summary of the specific well written by McClanahan and Fidelity's geologists, and
a generic "legal section" that McClanahan copied from offering documents used by
one of his prior employers.

10.  For each of the five wells, the respective offering document was
virtually the same. Each offering document stated that an investor would retain a
working interest in the well.

11.  Although the legal section of the offering document describes the
interests as a joint venture, the offering document makes clear that Fidelity was in

charge of making all operational decisions concerning the wells. The offering

Complaint
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documents also touted Fidelity's expertise in the field, and its management's "65
years of experience in the oil and gas industry."

B. The Proposed Defendants' Sales Efforts

12.  Led by McClanahan, Fidelity salespersons offered and sold interests in
Fidelity's wells nationally through cold calling. McClanahan purchased investor
leads on behalf of Fidelity from a third party.

13. McClanahan headed the sales force with one supervisor reporting
directly to him. Acting with McClanahan's approval, the supervisors hired and
trained the salespeople.

14.  Each salesperson's training consisted of reviewing the well offering
documents and listening in on a few sales calls before the new salesperson began
making cold calls to potential investors. The sales force's sole job was to sell oil
and gas well interests. These salespeople made between 50 and 100 cold calls per
day. Many of the potential investors the salespeople contacted had never before
invested in oil or gas wells.

15. Upon being hired, salespeople were given a copy of the offering
document for the oil well they were to sell and a sales script. The sales script from
which the salespeople read contained the basis for the oral representations made to
potential investors. McClanahan wrote the script.

16. The same script was used from well to well. The sales script
misrepresented the rates of return available on the well, the time it would take for
an investor to recoup his or her original investment, and the success of the well.

17.  One sales script instructed the salesperson to begin by offering to send
the customer a copy of a "prospectus on our proven project." The caller would then
summarize the well offering by explaining that an $18,200 investment would buy a
3.00% working interest in the well. According to the script, the caller would

conclude by stating: "So if you would like a 3 to 7 times return & a payout of 9

Complaint
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months on your initial investment, [ would like to send you the prospectus on this
PROVEN PROJECT."

18.  Only the numbers, such as unit price, working interest percentage,
amount of return and time of payout, changed between scripts. McClanahan
provided all of these numbers directly to the salespeople. The numbers used in a
well's script for the rate of return and time of payout were changed to conform to
the number used in that well's offering document.

19. At the end of the initial call, interested investors were sent copies of
the well's offering documents, which contained projections created by
McClanahan. The offering document was the only written material that potential
investors received from Fidelity. The offering document was largely the same
from well to well. Each contained an "if/then" revenue scenario chart purporting to
show potential returns on investments based upon certain hypotheticals.
McClanahan supplied these potential returns.

20.  Fidelity's oral solicitations differed from its offering documents in one
key respect. Whereas the rates of return presented in the offering documents were
specifically characterized as "projections,” Fidelity's salespeople promised
potential investors that they would receive the returns stated in the offering
document. Investors were not given the same disclaimers over the phone as were
contained in "if/then" charts printed in the offering document. In fact, McClanahan
discouraged salespersons from highlighting to potential investors that the rates of
return contained in the offering documents were only projections.

C. Misrepresentations and Omissions

1. The Defendants Misrepresented the Wells' Rates of Return

21.  From January 2000 through August 2001, the proposed defendants
represented to investors, both orally and in the offering documents, that their wells
could deliver a "three to seven times" return on an investment, and a steady income

Complaint
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stream over the next ten to fifteen years. McClanahan provided these numbers
directly to the salespeople. McClanahan conservatively projected that investors
could expect: (1) returns of between 72% and 228% per year; (2) a return on their
initial investment within 5 to 15 months; and (3) a "95% probability of success."

22.  These projections were unreasonable when originally made because,
based on the Company's track record, neither Fidelity nor McClanahan had any
basis to expect such a performance.

23.  McClanahan knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that the
projections were unrealistic and unattainable based upon his prior experience in the
oil and gas industry and his experience with Fidelity's other wells. As president of
the Company, McClanahan had direct access to Fidelity's books and records, and
knew, or was reckless in not knowing, how the wells were performing.

24.  From 1995 to 2000, Fidelity had never operated an oil well that
produced returns of the magnitude represented by the salespeople to potential
investors. The majority of wells Fidelity had established up to that point had either
been plugged and abandoned or sold off due to low production and high
maintenance costs. Only 24% of the wells Fidelity drilled were commercially
productive, i.e. produced enough barrels of oil per day ("BOPD") to pay for the
costs of drilling. Moreover, projecting and subsequently attaining returns in excess
of 200% per year would have been nearly impossible for any oil company to attain.

25.  Contrary to Fidelity's representations, returns from the wells Fidelity
drilled and operated in 2000 and 2001 were not near McClanahan's projections.

26.  Despite being told that they could expect to recoup their initial
investment on the Texas Belle #1 within five to twelve months on production of
350 BOPD, investors received a cumulative return of 5.9% of their initial
investment, attributable to the initial first few days of production. According to

McClanahan, the Texas Belle #1 is now a non-producing well.

Complaint
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27. Investors fared only slightly better on the Texas Belle #2, which has
yielded a cumulative 19.4% return on an initial investment, well short of the 145%
return projected by the Company.

28. Intotal, between 2000 and 2001, Fidelity raised $4,188,914.25 and
made payments to investors of $407,809 from the sale of the oil Fidelity's wells
produced, a cumulative return of just over 10% on the initial investments.

2. The Defendants Misrepresented their Segregation of

Customer Funds

29. Each offering document also assures prospective investors that each
well is a separate project, and that funds invested for the well will be segregated
and used only for that project. Each offering document also states that "[a]ll
subscription funds received by FPC will be deposited in a special, non-interest
bearing account at the Bank, and will be released to the Operator only if the
Offering is completed and closed...."

30. Contrary to these representations, money invested with Fidelity was
commingled into the same general bank account McClanahan opened in February
1998. McClanahan was the sole signatory on the account. Investor money was
used to fund Fidelity's operations, regardless of the well it was originally intended
for.

31. McClanahan told six investors during a face-to-face meeting in June
2001 that their money had been deposited into a segregated bank account, when in
fact it had not been.

3. The Defendants Falsely Stated That the Texas Belle #1 Had

Been a Success

32. Inlate June 2000, Fidelity began soliciting investors in the Texas
Belle #2 oil well. Fidelity claimed in the Texas Belle #2 offering document that it
was moving "150 [feet] away from the Texas Belle #1 to drill the Texas Belle #2,"

Complaint
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and that the #2 "should produce oil in the 100-200 barrels of oil per day range . . . ."
The Texas Belle #2 offering document portrays the Texas Belle #1 as a successful
well because the #1 "will pay out in less than six months with many years of
production a virtual certainty."”

33. This statement, written by McClanahan, was false when published.
The actual location of the Texas Belle #2 is in another county, 150 miles from the
site of the Texas Belle #1, rather than 150 feet away.

34.  As of the date the offering document was sent to investors, the
defendants knew the Texas Belle #1 would never be a commercially producing
well. In June 2000, at the same time the Company was soliciting investors in the
Texas Belle #2, McClanahan informed Fidelity employees that the Texas Belle #1
would never be a commercially productive well.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
UNREGISTERED OFFER AND SALE OF SECURITIES
Violations of Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act
(Against Fidelity and McClanahan)

35. Paragraphs 1 though 34 are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

36. Defendants Fidelity and McClanahan, by engaging in the conduct
described above, directly or indirectly:

a. made use of means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell
securities in the form of oil and gas interests through the use or
medium of a prospectus or otherwise;

b. carried or caused to be carried through the mails or in interstate
commerce, by means or instruments of transportation, such

securities for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale; and

Complaint
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c. made use of means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer
to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of any
prospectus or otherwise, such securities.

37.  No registration statement has been filed with the Commission or has
been in effect with respect to the above securities.

38. By reason of the foregoing, Fidelity and McClanahan violated,
and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and 5(c)
of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) & 77¢e(c).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
FRAUD IN THE OFFER OR SALE OF SECURITIES
Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act
(Against Fidelity and McClanahan)

39.  Paragraphs 1 though 34 are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

40. Defendants Fidelity and McClanahan, by engaging in the conduct
described above, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, by the use
of means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce

or by the use of the mails:

a. with scienter, employed devices, schemes or artifices to
defraud;
b. obtained money or property by means of untrue statements of

material fact or by omitting to state material facts necessary in

order to make the statements made, in the light of the

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or
c. engaged in transactions, practices or courses of business which

operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the

Complaint
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purchasers of such securities.

41. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Fidelity and McClanahan
violated, and unless restrained and enjoined will continue to viélate, Section 17(a)
of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
FRAUD IN CONNECTION WITH THE
PURCHASE OR SALE OF SECURITIES
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder
(Against Fidelity and McClanahan)

42. Paragraphs 1 through 34 are realleged and incorporated herein by
reference.

43.  Defendants Fidelity and McClanahan, by engaging in the conduct
described above, directly or indirectly, in connection with the purchase or sale of
securities, by the use of means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or of the
mails, or of a facility of a national securities exchange, with scienter:

a. employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud,;

b. made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made,
in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading; or

C. engaged in acts, practices or courses of business which operated
or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon other persons.

44. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Fidelity and McClanahan
violated and, unless permanently enjoined, will continue to violate, Section 10(b)
of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5.

Complaint
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that this Court:
I

Issue findings of fact and conclusions of law that Defendants Fidelity and

McClanahan engaged in the alleged violations.
II.

Issue orders permanently enjoining Defendants Fidelity and McClanahan,
and their officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys-in-fact, and all
persons 1n active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of
the injunction by personal service or otherwise, and each of them, from violating,
directly or indirectly, Sections 5(a), 5(c) and 17(a) of the Securities Act and Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

II1L.

Enter an order that Defendant Fidelity disgorge all profits gained directly or

indirectly from the illegal conduct, together with prejudgment interest thereon.
IVv.

Enter an order that Defendant McClanahan pay civil penalties pursuant to

Section 20(d) of the Securities Act and Section 21(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.
V.

Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity
and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the
terms of all orders and decrees that may be entered, or to entertain any suitable
application or motion for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.

1"
1"
1
"/
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VI.
Grant such other and further relief as this Court may determine to be just and

necessary.

DATED: August/0, 2002

e

MARC ¥ BLAU
“Attorney-in-Charge for Plaintiff
Pro-Hac Vice Motion pending
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
5670 Wilshire Boulevard, 11" Floor
Los Angeles, California 90036-3648
Telephone: (323) 965-3998
Facsimile: (323) 965-3908

Of Counsel:

HAROLD R. LOFTIN, JR.

Texas Bar No. 12487090

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900

801 Cherry Street, Unit #18

Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882

(817) 978-6450

(817) 978-4927 (fax)
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